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CORPORATE PROFILE

China Wireless Technologies Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 11 June
2002. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9 December 2004
(Stock Code: 2369).

Yulong Computer Telecommunication Scientific (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Yulong
Shenzhen”) is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. It was
founded by Mr. GUO Deying (the Company’s chairman, executive director and
chief executive officer) in April 1993. Yulong Shenzhen is a leading developer
and provider of integrated solutions for Coolpad EfJK smartphone sets, mobile
data platform system, and value-added business operations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC” or the “Mainland China”). Yulong Shenzhen
mainly provides its Coolpad products for enterprises, government and mobile
operators as well as individual consumers in the PRC.

In the last decade, capitalizing on the development of wireless
telecommunications technological know-how in wireless telecommunications
across multiple wireless telecommunications network standards including GSM,
CDMAT1X, TD-SCDMA, CDMA1X(EVDO) and WCDMA networks, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) have developed a large number
of proprietary technologies and patents in mobile operating systems, radio
frequency, protocols and wireless data decomposed transmission technology,
etc. The Group has developed advanced research and development capabilities
in mobile communications and gradually becomes a leader of 3G smartphone
in the Mainland China’s telecommunications market.

In spite of being a leading smartphone developer in Mainland China’s
telecommunications market, the Group has succeeded in breaking into
the global telecommunications market in respect of Coolpad brand with
the overseas telecommunications operators. The Group has established
strong and close strategic cooperation relationships with certain global
telecommunications operators and is striving to further develop its business in
the global telecommunications markets.

The Group is committed to providing every individual with the privilege to
enjoy the extravagant experience of using integrated terminal of wireless data
solutions. To achieve this goal, the Group is striving to realize its dream by
providing customized products and services based on its differentiated mobile
operating systems and applications.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The financial data below are extracted from the Group’s audited financial statements audited by Ernst & Young and
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs").

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December (HK$000)

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Operating revenue 7,340,495 4,592,699 2,604,865 1,007,135 1,277,663
Profit/(loss) before tax 324,297 545,101 263,579 (64,307) 167,520
Tax (53,228) (64,836) (23,574) (11,769) -
Profit/(loss) for the year 271,069 480,265 240,005 (76,076) 167,520

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December (HK$'000)

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Non-current assets 1,151,664 951,550 831,430 722,360 432,000
Current assets 6,379,541 3,301,409 1,418,416 862,915 812,149
Non-current liabilities 143,212 180,318 245,096 225,480 91,083
Current liabilities 5,198,303 2,652,149 1,125,624 718,696 491,716
Net assets 2,189,690 1,420,492 879,126 641,099 661,350
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Guo Deying

Chairman, Executive Director and CEO

For the year ended 31 December 2011, we recorded consolidated revenue
of HK$7,340.5 million, representing a growth of 59.8%, as compared
with that of 2010. Consolidated gross profit and gross profit margin
(hereinafter referred to as “GP margin”) were HK$1,081.4 million and
14.7% respectively. Consolidated operating profit was HK$271.1 million,
and consolidated operating margin was 3.7%. We have maintained a strong
financial position in 2011. As of 31 December 2011, the Group held cash
and cash equivalents of approximately HK$1,058.9 million. This strengthened
financial flexibility to support our future business growth.

Basic and diluted earnings per share
of the Company reached HK12.39
cents and HK12.15 cents for the
year ended 31 December 2011,
respectively. The Directors proposed
a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per
share. Together with the interim
dividend of HK1.0 cent per share
paid in September 2011, the total
dividend for the full year is HK3.0
cents per share.

During the year under review, we
enhanced to promote mid- and low-
end Coolpad 3G smartphones while
steadily expanding and optimizing
the product portfolio in order to
strengthen our market share and
to build a sustainable business for
the long term. In the full year of
2011, we have launched 30 new
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3G smartphones, which covered from the high-end to the mid- and low-end
smartphone. We also released the global 5-inch screen high-end smartphone,
called Coolpad Magview | 9930, which is the dual-model smartphone
for CDMA-EVDO and GSM network working together, and our flagship
smartphone named Coolpad Magview Il 9900, which had a higher hardware
spec and better user experience, including the larger storage and touch
panel size, the faster CPU, the thinner industry design.

In 2011, more and more star models with a huge volume of shipments
emerged (such as E239 an entry-level 3G smartphone and was positioned to
tap the younger consumer segment, D539 a long standby time smartphone,
W?706 the first Coolpad low-end WCDMA network smartphone). At the same
time, except these star models, we also launched a series of better cost/
performance smartphones with more individual features (such as 5820 One-
Key Weibo 3G Android smartphone optimized for mobile social networking,
5860 a 4-inch screen smartphone at a lower price, 8810 the online TV TD-
SCDMA smartphone). These 3G smartphones ranged from high-end to low-
end models which tremendously strengthened our product portfolio. So far,
the Group established a strong product portfolio covering 3 types of 3G
networks with retail price ranged from RMB500 to RMB5,000.

We still insisted on developing the innovative technology, and emphasized
the accumulative R&D capability last year, especially developing deep on
Android operating system (hereinafter referred to as “Android OS”). The R&D
department has completed the reconstruction in 2011, which helped us have
faster speed on the platform development. Once the platform developed
faster, and the differentiated Android OS was more mature, we could release
new smartphones more quickly, and capture more market share because of
the richer product line and differentiated products. The R&D investments also
led us to develop and get more significant patents.

We strengthened the depth of cooperation with the telecommunications
operators in the field of R&D on next generation network technologies (such
as LTE of 4G technology), mobile payment (such as NFC technology) and
other technologies related to cloud computing and storage. As of the end
of 31 December 2011, we have already released two versions of Coolcloud
(based on cloud computing and storage), which could help Coolpad users
synchronize the ordinary data, such as the contact, SMS, phone record, and
share the information. The Coolpad users could also enjoy the Coolmedia,
Coolweather, and so on, provided by the Group, for getting instant access
to weather, news and the scheduler on the go. The Coolmart, the online
application store, has owned more than 30,000 software and hot games
already, which are all developed by the third-party company, and free for
customers to download.

In the year of 2011, most of the Coolpad smartphones were shipped to
the domestic telecommunications operators, benefiting from rising 3G
users and attractive subsidies for the 3G smartphone buyers. As a domestic
manufacturer, we understood the needs of the smartphone market better
in China. We were also better positioned to grasp the customer buying
experience and attract new customers. We have established tens of
Coolpad direct stores, which were designed to simplify and enhance the
presentation and marketing of the Company’s products and related solutions.
These stores expanded brand recognition of Coolpad and its products.
Besides the domestic market, we also expanded the mid- and low-end
smartphones to the overseas market in 2011, and cooperated with the local
telecommunications operators.
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In 2011, we also focused on the improvement of general operation efficiency.
Through taking a series of measures, we improved the administrative
efficiency and internal operating process a lot during the reporting period.
These measures did a great favor to the success of the Group, even though
the intensifying competition and pressure during this year.

In the year of 2012, we will keep the route of the mid- and low-end
smartphone, and endeavor to improve the scale of the shipments. China’s
mobile industry is still expanding, especially the low-end smartphone
market, growing more quickly in the future. We believe that the volume
increase could provide significant economies of scale and bargaining power
in terms of cost management. We will continue to put more resources
on the construction of the R&D team and own capable engineers and
smart managers ourselves, in order to keep the leadership in domestic 3G
smartphone industry.

The second phase of the product capability project in Songshan Lake
production base will be started in 2012, and could satisfy the needs of the
full year large shipments volume. We will continue to enhance the general
operation efficiency, manage the manufacturing costs. And we're ready
for doing everything to face the challenges and the competition from the
competitors. Along with the 3G smartphones more popular, there will be
more opportunities, but the competition will also be intensifying in the
massive market in the near future.

As most of our business will still be distributed in the domestic market, the
revenue will continue to benefit from the domestic telecommunications
operators’ 3G subscriber promotion strategy, especially the mid- and low-end
smartphone strategy. At the same time, the average selling price (hereinafter
referred to as “ASP”) and GP margin may be much uncertain and volatile.
We expect the GP margin continues to be squeezed following the declining
ASP in 2012, according to huge competition and more notion of the low-end
smartphone. However, depending on the innovative technologies, the hard-
working philosophy, the quick-responded capabilities to the market demands,
and the differentiated product positioning, we will struggle to increase our
sales volume, and get more market share from the smartphone market in
2012.

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to our management team
and thousands of staffs of the Group for their hard work, dedication and
proficiency, as any success we achieve comes as a result of their ability and
their effort. | also would like to thank our shareholders, business partners
and customers for their long-standing loyalty and support.

China Wireless Technologies Limited
Guo Deying
Executive Director, Chairman, and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 20 March 2012
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I
f Total Revenue HK$7,340.5 Million

The financial data below are extracted from the Group’s audited financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs. The following discussion and analysis
should be read in conjunction with the Group’s financial statements
audited by Ernst & Young.

Year ended 31 December
HK$ million

Variance
2011 2010 (%)
Revenue

3G Coolpad Smartphone 7,258.6 4,036.8 79.8
2G Coolpad Smartphone 55.3 522.1 (89.4)
Other Products 26.6 33.8 (21.3)
Total revenue 7,340.5 4,592.7 59.8
Cost of sales (6,259.1) (3,475.3) 80.1
Gross profit 1,081.4 1,117.4 (3.2)
Other income/gains 319.8 217.0 47.4
Selling & distribution costs (466.3) (322.7) 44 .5
Administrative expenses (558.7) (443.4) 26.0
Other expenses (5.4) (13.9) (61.2)
Financial costs (46.3) (9.2) (403.3)
Share of losses of associates (0.2) (0.1) 100
Profit before tax 324.3 545.1 (40.5)
Income tax expenses (63.2) (64.8) (17.9)
Profit for the year 271.1 480.3 (43.6)

o

— J::IW/ N [_||

| NN\
>

—7 11

I




10 China Wireless Technologies Limited + Annual Report 2011

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

REVENUE ANALYSED BY PRODUCT TYPES

A comparative breakdown of the consolidated revenue streams into the product types are set forth in the following
table for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
Revenues % of Revenue
HK$ million revenue HK$ million
Revenue
3G Coolpad smartphone 7,258.6 98.9 4,036.8 87.9
2G Coolpad smartphone 55.3 0.7 522.1 1.4
Others 26.6 0.4 33.8 0.7
Total 7,340.5 100 4,592.7 100

The Group recorded consolidated revenue for the year ended 31 December 2011 of HK$7,340.5 million, representing
a growth of 59.8% as compared with HK$4,592.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2010. The substantial
growth of the consolidated revenue in 2011 was mainly driven by the strong increase in the sales of the Group’s
3G Coolpad smartphone as a result of the continued vibrant development of 3G mobile market in Mainland China
during the year under review.

The revenue from 3G Coolpad smartphone increased by 79.8% to HK$7,258.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2011 as compared with HK$4,036.8 million for year ended 31 December 2010. The significant increase
in revenue from the sales of 3G Coolpad smartphone was primarily attributable to the shift of the Group’s product
portfolio to the mid- and low-end smartphone and the successful launch of many better cost/performance 3G
Coolpad smartphones for the three domestic telecommunications operators. Revenue contribution from this product
type surged to 98.9% in 2011 from 87.9% in 2010. This demonstrated that the Group’s product portfolio shifted to
3G smartphone type during the year under review. So far, the Group’s Coolpad product has covered all range of 3G
networks, including TD-SCDMA, CDMA2000 as well as WCDMA networks.

Coolpad 7260

Z - ‘ 8 NN\
-JI:IW/ N ;‘[J;‘[Q T \NIIILJ W




— J::IW/ N [_|\

China Wireless Technologies Limited + Annual Report 2011 11

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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The revenue from the sales of 2G Coolpad smartphone decreased by HK$466.8 million to HK$55.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2011 as compared with HK$522.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2010.
Revenue contribution from this product type dropped to 0.7% in 2011 from 11.4% in 2010, due primarily to a
dramatic decline in sales volume of 2G Coolpad smartphone and the Group transferred all its R&D resources to 3G
smartphone during the year under review.

The revenue from other products decreased by HK$7.2 million, or
21.3%, to HK$26.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2011
as compared with HK$33.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2010. The decrease in the revenue from other products during the
year under review was mainly attributable to a decrease in the sales
of Coolpad smartphone’s accessories and others.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

GROSS PROFIT

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
Gross profit GP Margin Gross profit GP Margin
Gross Profit HK$ million (%) HK$ million (%)

Total 1,081.4 14.7 1,117.4 24.3

The Group’s overall gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 decreased to HK$1,081.4 million, representing
a decrease of 3.2% as compared with HK$1,117.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2010. The Group’s overall
GP margin for the year ended 31 December 2011 significantly dropped to 14.7%, down 9.6 percentage as compared
with 24.3% for the year ended 31 December 2010. The significant decline in GP margin was primarily attributable to
the decrease of its overall Average Selling Price (“ASP") as a result of the Group’s product mix shifted from high-end
mobile market to mid- and low-end market where the Group faced severe competition and tightly compressed price.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains of the Group amounted to approximately HK$319.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2011, representing an increase of 47.4% as compared with HK$217.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2010. This increase was mainly attributable to the increase of the Group’s exchange gain, interest income and rental
income in 2011.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
Selling and distribution costs (HK$ million) 466.3 322.7
Selling and distribution costs/revenue (%) 6.4 7.0

Selling and distribution costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 increased to HK$466.3 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$143.6 million, or 44.5%, as compared with HK$322.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2010. The net increase of HK$143.6 million was primarily generated from increased
expenditures for marketing, advertising and promotion expenses, and increased salaries of newly employed salesmen
to support new product launches. As a percentage of total revenue, selling and distribution costs significantly
decreased to 6.4% in 2011 from 7.0% in 2010. The net decrease of 0.6% as a percentage of total revenue primarily
reflected the Group has controlled its marketing expenses efficiently and benefited from the economies of scale as
sales volume increased.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010
Administrative expenses (HK$ million) 558.7 443 .4
Administrative expenses/revenue (%) 7.6 9.7

Administrative expenses increased by 26.0% to HK$558.7 million for the year ended 31 December from HK$443.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2010. The net increase of HK$115.3 million was primarily generated from
increased expenditures on R&D, and increased salaries of newly employed staff. As a percentage of total revenue, it
dropped nearly 2.1% during the year under review as compared with 9.7% in the year of 2010, reflecting that the
Group executed tight control over the administrative expenses.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group's income tax expense amounted to HK$53.2 million (2010:
HK$64.8 million). The decrease in the current year income tax expense was mainly attributable to the decrease of the
Group's profit before tax.

NET PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded a net profit of HK$271.1 million, representing a decrease
of HK$209.2 million, or 43.6%, as compared with HK$480.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2010. The
reasons for the decrease in net profit were mainly due to: 1) the Group shifted the product mix from the high-end
to the mid- and low-end smartphone during the year under review; and 2) the intensifying market competition has
resulted in a drop in ASP in 2011.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCE

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s operating capital was mainly generated from cash from its
daily operation and bank borrowings. The Group’s cash requirements related primarily to production and operating
activities, repayment of due liabilities, capital expenditure, interest and dividend payments and other unforeseeable
cash requirements.

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as of 31 December 2011 amounted to HK$1,058.9 million (2010: HK$641.9
million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGED OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2011, the following assets of the Group were used to secure certain bank borrowings of
the Group: (i) investment properties of approximately HK$104 million (2010: HK$135 million); (ii) time deposits
of approximately HK$325 million (2010: HK$71 million). As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s time deposits of
approximately HK$689.4 million were also used to secure bills payable (2010: HK$540.0 million).
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At 31 December 2010, Group’s certain buildings and leasehold land were pledged to certain banks to secure bank
borrowings granted to the Group which had an aggregate carrying value at 31 December 2010 of approximately
HK$41 million and HK$52 million, respectively. At 31 December 2010, the Group’s certain bills receivable of HK$147
million was also pledged to secure the Group’s bills payable.

The Group shifted the product mix from the high-end smartphone to the mid- and low-end smartphone, and entered
into the massive 3G smartphone market in 2011. Along with the domestic telecommunications operators started the
lower 3G monthly package fees, and put more subsidies for the customers on buying 3G smartphone, the number of
the net addition of the 3G users increased explosively in the year of 2011, and the massive 3G smartphone market
was full of opportunities with challenges. The Group has benefited from this. The volume increase provided significant
economies of scale and bargaining power in terms of cost management in the year of 2011.

The Group had a turnover of approximately HK$7,340.5 million, which increased by 59.8% from HK$4,592.7 million.
The significant increase was largely due to higher promotional spending on the mid- and low-end smartphone
market and was largely ascribed to the solid growth of 113.2% in the sales volume. The net profit for the year was
approximately HK$271.1 million, which decreased by 43.6% from HK$480.3 million in 2010. The ASP for the year
was HK$683.0, representing a drop of 25.0% from HK$911.0 in 2010. GP margin was 14.7% in 2011 and it was
24.3% in 2010, representing a drop of 9.6%. These drops were because the Group changed the product mix to the
mid- and low-end smartphone and the competition from the mid- and low-end smartphone market has intensified in
2011.

In the year of 2011, the Group had successfully turned to the Android OS, which is an open source code smartphone
operating system, and the Group redeveloped a lot of software features differentiated on the Coolpad Android
smartphone, compared with the smartphones from the competitors. All of these Coolpad Android smartphone kept
the Coolpad traditional gene, including the dual-mode dual-working feature, private model, three steps finding
of the Contact, fast Chinese character identification, and so on. In the year of 2011, the Group had launched 30
new smartphones based on the differentiated Android OS, which covered from the high-end to the mid- and low-
end smartphone. In the year of 2011, the Group released the 5-inch screen high-end smartphone, called Coolpad
Magview | 9930, which is the dual-model smartphone for EVDO and GSM network working together, and the user
experience was improved a lot. The Group has also released its flagship smartphone, named Coolpad Magview I
9900, which had a higher hardware spec, including the larger storage and touch panel size, the faster CPU, the
thinner industry design.

In 2011, more and more star models with a huge volume of shipments emerged (such as E239 an entry-level 3G
smartphone and was positioned to tap the younger consumer segment, D539 a long standby time smartphone,
W706 the first Coolpad low-end WCDMA network smartphone). At the same time, except these star models, the
Group launched a series of better cost/performance smartphones with more individual features (such as 5820 One-
Key Weibo 3G Android smartphone optimized for mobile social networking, 5860 a 4-inch screen smartphone at a
lower price, 8810 the online TV TD-SCDMA smartphone, 7260 the next generation high cost/performance WCDMA
smartphone).
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Most products of the Group in 2011 were shipped to the domestic telecommunications operators, benefiting from
rising 3G users volume and attractive subsidies for the 3G smartphone buyers. As a domestic manufacturer, the
Group understood the needs of the smartphone market better in China. The Group was also better positioned to
control the customer buying experience and attract new customers. The Coolpad direct stores, which were set up by
the Group, were designed to simplify and enhance the presentation and marketing of the Company’s products and
related solutions. These stores expanded brand recognition of Coolpad and its products.

The Group still insisted on developing the innovative technology, and emphasized the accumulative R&D capability
in the year of 2011, especially after the operating system is mostly based on Android OS. The R&D department had
completed the reconstruction in 2011, which helped the Group have a faster speed on the platform development.
Once the platform of the Group developed faster, and the differentiated Android OS was more mature, the Group
could release new smartphones quicker, and capture more market share because of the richer product line and
differentiated products. The R&D investments also led us to develop and get more significant patents.

The Group had done a lot of work on how to improve the user experience, not only by the excellent software
features Coolpad gene, but also by the Coolcloud service, and the popular Coolmart, which is an online application
market owning more than 30,000 software and hot games. These software and games were developed by the third-
party company, and all free for customers to download. As the smartphone market grows to the mobile internet
gradually, the Group took the Coolcloud and the Coolmart as the strategy work in the long run. As of 31 December
2011, the Group had already released two versions of Coolcloud, which could help Coolpad users synchronize the
ordinary data, such as the contact, SMS, phone record, and share the information, such as the meeting schedules.
The Coolpad users could also enjoy the Coolmedia, Coolweather, and so on, provided by the Group, for getting
instant access to weather, news and the scheduler on the go.

In the year of 2011, the Group also focuses on the improvement of general operation efficiency. The Group took a
series of measures to improve its administrative efficiency and internal operating process during the reporting period.
These measures did a great favor to the success of the Group, notwithstanding the intensifying competition and
pressure during the year. Consolidated administrative expenses ratio was 7.6% in 2011, which attest to the efforts
of the Group in enhancing operational efficiency.

In the year of 2012, the Group will keep the route of the mid- and low-end smartphone, and endeavor to improve
the scale of the shipments. China‘s mobile industry is still expanding, especially the mid- and low-end smartphone
market, growing more quickly in the future. The Group believes that the volume increase could provide significant
economies of scale and bargaining power in terms of cost management.

As the differentiated Android OS including the Coolpad gene becomes more mature and stable, the Group will
release more and more new models based on it in 2012. The product line which continues to cover the smartphone
from the high-end to the low-end will be richer, compared with that in the year of 2011. Most of these new models
will be the mid- and low-end smartphones, as the increase momentum of such kind of smartphone keeps strong. In
2012, the user experience of the mid- and low-end smartphone will be improved a lot, and the cost/performance of
these smartphones will be better, as the Group is going to improve the hardware spec of the smartphone. So these
smartphones will be more attractive to the customers.

15
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After the R&D department has been reconstructed in 2011, its efficiency became better and competitive power
became stronger. So the Group will be more competitive in the R&D capability of smartphone field. The Group
will continue to put more resources on the construction of the R&D team and have capable engineers and smart
managers itself, in order to keep the leadership in domestic 3G smartphone industry. In the year 2012, the
differentiated Android platform will still be the main point, but the Group will also test other excellent operating
systems to provide more choices for the customers.

The Group will keep the strong growth in the mid- and low-end smartphone market, and cooperate with the
domestic telecommunications operators in 2012. The domestic market will still be the main market of the Group.
The Group is also going to train and improve the skills and the capability of the salesmen, who will understand the
demands of the customers and the telecommunications operators more clearly and quickly. More and more flag-
ship stores will be set up in the first-tier cities to improve the brand of Coolpad in 2012. The Group will pay more
attentions and resources on the after sales service, in order to let the Coolpad customers enjoy these services more
easily while using the smartphones.

The Coolcloud, the platform of Coolpad based on the cloud computing and storage, will still be the long-term
development strategy of the Group, and provide more excellent services for Coolpad users in 2012. The Group has
already released the second version of Coolcloud in 2011, which could help the users share the schedules each
other, synchronize the data of contacts, SMS, phone records, and so on. It will be more convenient for Coolpad users
transferring the private data, once they want to change a smartphone. The Group is going to cooperate with the
governments, and construct the wireless city based on Coolcloud, which would provide many special services. The
Coolmart, providing tens of thousands of hot games and software developed by the third-party company to Coolpad
users to download directly, will be strengthened and will be added more applications in 2012.

The second phase of the product capability project in Songshan Lake production base will be started in 2012, and
could satisfy the most needs of the full year larger shipments volume. The Group will continue to enhance the
general operation efficiency, and manage the manufacturing costs. And the Group gets ready for doing everything
to face the challenges and the competition from the competitors. Along with the 3G smartphones becoming more
popular, there will be more opportunities, but the competition will also be intensifying in the massive market in the
near future. As most business of the Group will still be distributed in the domestic market, its revenue will continue
to benefit from the domestic telecommunications operators’ 3G subscriber promotion strategy, especially the mid-
and low-end smartphone strategy. At the same time, the ASP and the GP margin will be much uncertain and volatile.
The Group expects its GP margin continues to be squeezed following the declining ASP in 2012, according to huge
competition and more notion of mid- and low-end smartphone. However, depending on the innovative technologies,
the hard-working philosophy, the quick-responded capabilities to the market demands, and the differentiated product
positioning, the Group will struggle to increase the sales volume, and get more market share from the smartphone
market in 2012.
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APPLICATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Board is committed to enhancing the Group’s corporate governance standards by improving corporate transparency
through effective channels of information disclosure.

The Board believes that good corporate governance is beneficial for maintaining close and trustful relationships with
its employees, business partners, shareholders and investors.

The Company has applied the principles of the Code Provisions under the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited(the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2011, save for
the deviation discussed below. The following sections set out the principles in the Code as they have been applied by
the Company, including any deviations therefrom, for the year under review.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

It is the duty of the Board to create value to the shareholders of the Company, establish the Company’s strategic
direction, set the Company’s objectives and plan in accordance therewith, and provide leadership and ensure availability
of resources in the attainment of such objectives. The Board endeavors to manage the Company in a responsible and
effective manner, and strive to ensure that each of the Directors carries out his duty in good faith and in compliance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the "Articles of Association”), the applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Board and the management of the Company (the “Management”) have clearly defined responsibilities under
various internal control and checks-and-balance mechanism. The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to the
Management, including implementation of decisions of the Board and organization and direction of the day-to-day
operation and management of the Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans approved by
the Board; preparation and monitoring of annual business plans and operating budget; and control, supervision and
monitoring of capital, technical and human resources. The Board will review these arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises nine directors, four of whom are executive directors, one is non-executive director and
four are independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”). The composition of the Board is set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. GUO Deying (Chairman of the Board and CEQ)
Mr. JIANG Chao

Mr. LI Bin

Mr. LI Wang

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. YANG Xiao

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN King Chung
Dr. HUANG Dazhan
Mr. XIE Weixin

Mr. YANG Xianzu

The biography of the directors are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 23 to 25 of this annual
report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial or family relationship among the Board members except
that Ms. YANG Xiao, a non-executive Director, is the spouse of Mr. GUO Deying, an executive Director, the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Directors for their liabilities arising out
of corporate affairs. The insurance coverage is reviewed annually.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr. GUO Deying is the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company. The Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the Management and believes that this structure enables the Group to make and
implement decision promptly and efficiently. In addition, the Board is of the view that, in view of the current scale of
operations of the Group, the separation of the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company may
hinder administrative efficiency and is neither suitable to the Group nor in the interests of the Company’s shareholders
as a whole.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (“INEDS")

The INEDs have the same duties of care, skill and fiduciary duties as the executive Directors. They are expressly identified
as such in all corporate communications that disclose the names of the Directors. The INEDs have expertise in respective
areas of accounting, business management and possess in-depth industry knowledge. With their professional knowledge
and experience, the INEDs have advised the Company on its operation and management; participated in the Audit
Committee meetings and Remuneration Committee meetings of the Company. The INEDs have contributed to provide
checks and balance to protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole, and to promote the
development of the Company.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and on this basis, considers that all INEDs to be independent as at the date of this report.

Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for specific terms, subject to re-
election. Currently, all INEDs are appointed for a period of one year subject to renewal and retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

BOARD OPERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Board held four meetings. Attendance of individual directors at the
Board meetings in 2011 is as follows:

Name of directors Number of meetings attended

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Deying 4/4
Mr. JIANG Chao 4/4
Mr. LI Wang 4/4
Mr. LI Bin 4/4

Non-executive Director
Ms. YANG Xiao 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN King Chung (Chairman) 4/4
Dr. HUANG Dazhan 4/4
Mr. YANG Xianzu 4/4
Mr. XIE Weixin 4/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in compliance with the Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include (without limitation):

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration; and

(b) to determine the remuneration packages for executive Directors and senior management and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the INEDs, namely, Mr. CHAN King Chung (Chairman), Dr. HUANG
Dazhan, Mr. YANG Xianzu and Mr. XIE Weixin.

The Remuneration Committee had two meetings in 2011 which were attended by all the members of the Remuneration
Committee, which were consulted by Mr. GUO Deying, the chairman of the Company, to review the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management of the Group and share option scheme.

No Director took part in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.

PROVISION OF INFORMATION TO DIRECTORS

To assist the Directors in the discharge of their respective duties, the Company will provide every Director with a
comprehensive induction program on the first occasion of his appointment, in which the Director will be provided with
information on the Company’s organisation and business, including the membership, duties and responsibilities of the
Board, the various Board committees and the Management; corporate governance practices and procedures; and the
latest financial information of the Company. Such information shall be supplemented with visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with key members of the Management.

Throughout their tenure, the Directors will be provided with updates on the business of the Company, latest
developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements, corporate social responsibility
matters and other changes affecting the Company from time to time.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities transactions and dealings (the “Code of Conduct”) based
on the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code”). The terms of the Code of Conduct are no less exacting than the standards in the Model Code,
and the Code of Conduct applies to all relevant persons as defined in the Model Code, including all the Directors, all
other employees of the Company, and director and employees of a subsidiary or holding company of the Company
who, because of such office or employment, are likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information
in relation to the Company or its securities. Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors who have confirmed
in writing their compliance with the required standards set out in the Code of Conduct during the year under review.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, comprising all four INEDs, namely, Mr. CHAN King Chung (Chairman), Mr. YANG Xianzu, Dr.
HUANG Dazhan and Mr. XIE Weixin has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and
has discussed the auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters.

In 2011, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee is
set out below:

Name Number of meetings attended
Mr. CHAN King Chung (Chairman) 4/4
Dr. HUANG Dazhan 4/4
Mr. YANG Xianzu 4/4
Mr. XIE Weixin 4/4

The Audit Committee has carefully reviewed and discussed the Company’s half-yearly and annual results for the year
under review and system of internal control and has made recommendations for improvement. The Audit Committee
has carried out and discharged its duties set out in Code.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a proper and effective system of internal control of the Group.
The Directors have reviewed and considered that the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the
generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong, and reflected amounts that are based on the best estimates
and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the Board and the Management with an appropriate consideration
to materiality.

The Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and believes that,
such system is sufficient in providing reasonable assurances that the Group’s assets are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorized use or disposition, transactions are properly authorized and proper accounting records are maintained.
Such system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s operational system.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee was established during the year of 2012 which comprises one executive director and two
independent nonexecutive directors, namely Mr. GUO Deying (the Chairman of the Committee), Mr. YANG Xianzu
and Mr. XIE Weixin as members. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors and senior
management, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of directors and
senior management, and assessment of the independence of the independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and recommending candidates for directorship and senior
management by making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and regulations.
An external recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing for re-election at the next
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

Ernst & Young has been appointed as the External Auditors of the Company for the year under review. An amount
of approximately HK$3.1 million was charged by Ernst & Young for its audit services provided to the Group in 2011
(2010: HK$2.9 million). The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to financial reporting are set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on page 38 of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognizes the importance of good communications with all shareholders and investors. The Company’s
annual general meeting is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with the shareholders. The Company
provides information relating to the Company and its business in its annual and half-yearly report and also disseminates
such information electronically through its website at www.chinawireless.cn and the website of the Stock Exchange. All
shareholders of the Company are given a minimum of 21 days’ notice of the date and venue of such annual general
meeting. The Company supports the Code’s principle to encourage shareholders’ participation.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
Company’s registered address or by e-mail to the Company’s email address at ir@yulong.com.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. GUO Deying

Mr. GUO Deying, aged 47, is an executive Director, the chairman and chief executive officer of the Group. He is
responsible for the Group’s overall management and strategic development. Mr. GUO has been the chairman, the legal
representative and the general manager of the Group since its establishment in 1993. Mr. GUO has about 19 years of
experience in the wireless communications industry. Mr. GUO received a master’s degree in engineering from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University (/832 A ). In July 2008, Mr. GUO was awarded Mayor Award of Shenzhen (%3 & &) by
the Shenzhen Municipal Government. Mr. GUO is a member of Shenzhen Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. GUO is the spouse of Ms. YANG Xiao, a non-executive Director.

Mr. JIANG Chao

Mr. JIANG Chao, aged 41, is an executive Director, the chief financial officer, vice president of the Group, and the
company secretary of the Company. Mr. JIANG is responsible primarily for the finance and administrative functions of
the Group. He is an associate member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified public
accountant in the PRC. Mr. JIANG joined the Group in June 2002. Mr. JIANG has about 19 years of experience in
accounting and finance. Prior to joining the Group, he had worked for the State Audit Bureau. Mr. JIANG had also
worked for Qiaoxing Electronic Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the NASDAQ Stock Exchange,
stock symbol: XING) and ZTE Corporation Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 763), where he was responsible for financial and accounting functions. Mr. JIANG currently is
the independent non-executive director of Ming Fung Jewellery Group Limited (the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 860), Mr. JIANG is a member of Futian Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. JIANG obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Sun Yat-Sen University in 1991.

Mr. LI Bin

Mr. LI Bin, aged 41, is an executive director of the Company. Mr. LI is also a deputy general manager of the Group
and responsible for the Group’s research and development of software and testing. Mr. LI has more than 13 years of
experience in software development and testing. Mr. LI joined the Group in June 1996. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
LI worked in China Sanjiang Aviation Industry Group Company (FE = )ITfi R T#EE AR A F]). Mr. LI obtained a
bachelor’s degree in computer science and software engineering from Huazhong University of Science and Technology
in 1992.

Mr. LI Wang

Mr. LI Wang, aged 39, is an executive director of the Company. He is also a deputy general manager of the Group
and responsible for the Group’s sales and marketing functions. Mr. LI has 13 years of experience in the information
technology industry. Mr. LI joined the Group in March 2001. Before joining the Group, he worked for Hua Wei
Technology Company Limited. Mr. LI obtained a master’s degree in business administration from Dalian university of
Technology in 1997.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. YANG Xiao

Ms. YANG Xiao, aged 43, is a non-executive Director. Ms. YANG joined the Group in August 2001. She graduated with
a diploma from Shenzhen University. During 1992 to 1995, Ms. YANG worked in Shenzhen Transport Bureau. Ms. YANG
is the spouse of Mr. GUO. Ms. YANG does not hold any management position in the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHAN King Chung

Mr. CHAN King Chung, aged 49, is an independent non-executive Director and joined the Group in November 2004. He
obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration and accountancy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
1987 and City university of Hong Kong in 1993, respectively. Mr. CHAN also obtained a Master degree in accountancy
and business administration. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. CHAN has more than 20 years of experience in
corporate governance, management and financial controlling.

Dr. HUANG Dazhan

Dr. HUANG Dazhan, aged 54, is an independent non-executive Director and joined the Group in November 2004. Dr.
HUANG obtained his doctorate degree from the Victoria University of Manchester, England, the United Kingdom in
1993. Dr. HUANG currently serves at China Merchants Group.

Mr. XIE Weixin

Mr. XIE Weixin, aged 70, is an independent non-executive Director and joined the Group in November 2004. Mr. XIE
graduated from the Department of Electronics Engineering of Xi‘an University of Electronics Technology in 1965. Mr.
XIE was a visiting scholar in University of Pennsylvania during the period from 1981 to 1983 and from 1989 to 1990,
respectively. He was honored as one of the national outstanding middle-aged and young experts. Mr. XIE currently is
the chairman of the Academic Committee of Shenzhen University, a professor in College of Information Engineering
of Shenzhen University, and an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Sed Industry Co. Limited (the shares
of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code:000032).

Mr. YANG Xianzu

Mr. YANG Xianzu, aged 72, an independent non-executive Director and joined the Group in May 2007. He graduated
from the Department of Telephone and Telegraph at the Wuhan College of Posts and Telecommunications in 1965 and
served as the Deputy Director General of the Post and Telecommunications Bureau of Hubei Province and the Director
General of the Post and Telecommunications Administration of Henan Province. From 1990 to 1999, Mr. YANG served
as the Vice Minister of the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications and later as Vice Minister of the Ministry of
Information Industry. He was the chairman and chief executive officer of China Unicom Limited (the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock code: 762) from 2000 to 2003. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Dongfeng Motor Group Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 489), CITIC Telecom International Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock code: 1883) and Net 263 Limited (the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock code: 002467). Mr. YANG has over 39 years of experience in the telecommunications
industry in China. Mr. YANG has extensive knowledge on telecommunications operations and control.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Liuqun

Mr. LI Liuqun, aged 49, is a deputy general manager of the Group and is responsible for overseas marketing sales
functions. He has about 24 years of experience in the wireless telecommunications industry. Prior to joining the Group
in December 2000, he worked for State 760 factory (& % 7 #). He obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering
from Xi‘an University of Electronics Technology in 1985.

Mr. ZHANG Hanwu

Mr. ZHANG Hanwu, aged 49, is a deputy general manager of the Group and is responsible for the human resources
and administration functions. Mr. ZHANG has 22 years of specialised experience in human resources and administration
in various industries. Prior to joining the Group in 2006, he worked in fast-consuming goods industry, communications
system equipment manufacture industry and communications terminal equipment manufacture industry.

Mr. PAN Wenyan

Mr. PAN Wenyan, aged 48, is Chief Information Official as well as Representative Corporate Management of the Group,
responsible for the internal processes optimisation, IT and tendering business. Mr. PAN has 23 years of specialised
experience in enterprise information technology and process optimisation in various industries. Prior to joining the
Group in 2007, Mr. PAN worked in Shenyang Aircraft Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. (BISR#E T % (£E) AR A F) from
1987 to 1998; and in ZTE Corporation Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
Stock Code: 763) from 1999 to 2007. He obtained a bachelor degree and a master degree in Beijing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics consecutively.
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The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a wireless solution and equipment provider in Mainland China. The principal activity of the Company
is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year under
review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 40 to 122.

An interim dividend of HK1 cent per ordinary share was paid on 29 September 2011.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK2 cents per ordinary share for the year 2011 to
shareholders as shown on the register of members on 31 May 2012. This recommendation has been incorporated
in the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement of financial
position.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, which will be held on Wednesday, 23 May 2012. For the purpose of determining
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the said annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 18 May 2012 to 23 May 2012 (both days inclusive), during which no transfer of shares
will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the said annual general meeting, all transfer of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrars in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 May
2012.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 29 May 2012 to 31 May 2012, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, all transfer of shares, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrars in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 28 May 2012. The final
dividend will be paid on or about 14 June 2012 to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
at the close of business on 31 May 2012.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a published summary of the consolidated financial results and of the consolidated assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, prepared on the basis set out in note 2.1 to the financial

statements.
Year ended 31 December
2011* 2010* 2009* 2008* 2007*
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Results
Revenue 7,340,495 4,592,699 2,604,865 1,007,135 1,277,663
Profit/(loss) before tax 324,297 545,101 263,579 (64,307) 167,520
Tax (53,228) (64,836) (23,574) (11,769) -
Profit/(loss) for the year 271,069 480,265 240,005 (76,076) 167,520
Attributable to
owners of the Company 271,364 480,265 240,005 (76,076) 167,520

As at 31 December

2011* 2010* 2009* 2008* 2007*
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 1,151,664 951,550 831,430 722,360 432,000
Current assets 6,379,541 3,301,409 1,418,416 862,915 812,149
Non-current liabilities 143,212 180,318 245,096 225,480 91,083
Current liabilities 5,198,303 2,652,149 1,125,624 718,696 491,716
Net assets 2,189,690 1,420,492 879,126 641,099 661,350
* extracted from the published audited financial statements
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group Gross

Location interest Tenure Use floor area
High Tech Plaza, 100% The property is held for a term of Office 3,802.01 sg.m.

Tian An Cyberpark, Chegongmiao, 50 years commencing on 16

Futian District, Shenzhen, November 1988

Guangdong Province,

the PRC
Coolpad Information Harbor, 100% The property is held for a term of Office  40,920.71 sq.m.

2nd Mengxi Road, 50 years commencing on 13

Hi-tech Industrial Park (North), October 1999

Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year under review are set out in
notes 33 and 34, to the financial statements.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

Details of movement in the Company’s shares held for the Share Award Plan during the year under review are set out
in note 35 to the financial statements.

PENSION SCHEME

Particulars of the Group’s pension schemes are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s existing articles of association (the “Articles”) or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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ISSUE, PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group had placed an aggregate of 150,000,000 shares at HK$4.55
per share. During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company repurchased a total of 115,212,000 of its own
ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange at a net aggregate consideration of approximately HK$190,264,000. All
the repurchased shares were cancelled by the Company upon such repurchase and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The premium paid on the repurchase
was charged to the share premium account. An amount equivalent to the par value of the ordinary shares cancelled
was transferred to the capital redemption reserve as set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. The
Company considered that it is the best way of enhancing shareholder value and that it is in the best interest of the
shareholders to return a substantial part of the surplus funds to them.

Details of the repurchases by the Company on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 December 2011 were

as follows:
Number
of Shares Price per share Total
repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
May 2011 15,000,000 1.98 1.82 28,832
June 2011 52,856,000 1.93 1.53 91,063
July 2011 14,100,000 1.80 1.59 23,916
August 2011 22,600,000 1.54 1.32 31,458
September 2011 10,656,000 1.43 1.34 14,995
115,212,000 190,264
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements and in the consolidated Statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law (2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$640,975,000. The Board
recommended a final dividend proposal of HK2 cents per ordinary share for the year 2011. The distributable reserves
include the Company’s share premium account and contributed surplus, amounting to HK$597,970,000 as at 31
December 2011, which may be distributed provided that immediately following the date on which such reserves are
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 66.1% of the total
sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 21.2%. Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 36.8% of the total purchases for the year ended 31 December
2011 and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 12.4%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and/or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year under review and up to the date of this report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. GUO Deying (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. JIANG Chao

Mr. LI Bin

Mr. LI Wang
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Ms. YANG Xiao

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Dr. HUANG Dazhan
Mr. XIE Weixin

Mr. CHAN King Chung
Mr. YANG Xianzu

Under the provisions of the Articles, all of the Directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election.

In accordance with Articles of Association, Mr. GUO Deying, Mr. LI Wang and Mr. LI Bin will retire and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the
Board still considers each of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent from the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 23 to 25 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. GUO Deying and Mr. JIANG Chao, executive Directors, has entered into a service agreement with the
Company dated 21 November 2011 for a term of three years commencing from 21 November 2011.

Each of Mr. LI Bin and Mr. LI Wang, executive Directors, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
dated 7 April 2009 for an initial term of three years commencing from 7 April 2009.

The non-executive Director Ms. YANG Xiao has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 21 November 2010.

The independent non-executive Director Mr. YANG Xianzu has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of one year commencing from 26 May 2011. The remaining independent non-executive Directors have
entered into service agreements with the Company for a term of one year commencing from 21 November 2011.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the Company’s Board with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 25 and 39 to the financial statements, no Director had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors, the chief executive or their respective
associates in the share capital, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO"), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code (the “Model Code”), for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY:

Approximate

percentage

Through of the

Directly spouse Through Company's

Beneficially orminor  controlled  Beneficiary Founder Share issued

Name of director Notes Owned children  corporation of a trust of a trust Option Total share capital
Mr. GUO Deying 1&2 - 831,171,248 12,028,000 - 831,171,248 - 843,199,248 39.27
Mr. JIANG Chao 3 - - - 12,028,000 - - 12,028,000 0.56
Mr. LI Bin 4 - - - - - 7,348,000 7,348,000 0.34
Mr. LI Wang 4 5,020,000 - - - - 5,800,000 10,820,000 0.50
Ms. YANG Xiao 18&2 - 831,171,248 12,028,000 - - - 843,199,248 39.27
Mr. CHAN King Chung 4 96,000 - - - - 96,000 192,000 0.01
Mr. HUANG Dazhan 4 - - - - - 144,000 144,000 0.01
Mr. XIE Weixin 4 - - - - - 192,000 192,000 0.01
Mr. YANG Xianzu 4 - - - - - 192,000 192,000 0.01
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LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES OF AN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION:

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest
Percentage of
issued share
Through Founder of a  capital of the
Name of associated spouse or discretionary associated
Name of director Note corporation minor children trust corporation

Mr. GUO Deying 1 Data Dreamland Holding 1,000 1,000 100
Limited

Ms. YANG Xiao 1 Data Dreamland Holding 1,000 1,000 100
Limited

Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of Data Dreamland Holding Limited (“Data Dreamland”) is held by Barrie Bay Limited (“Barrie
Bay”), which is acting as the trustee of the Barrie Bay Trust. The Barrie Bay Trust is a unit trust held by HSBC International
Trustee Limited (“HSBC Trustee”) acting as the trustee of the Barrie Bay Trust. The Barrie Bay Trust is a discretionary trust set
up by Mr. GUO Deying (“Mr. GUQO"), an executive Director, and his spouse, Ms. YANG Xiao (“Ms. YANG"), a non-executive
Director, the beneficiary objects of which include the minor children of Mr. GUO and Ms. YANG.

Each of Mr. GUO and Ms. YANG is taken to be interested in the 831,171,248 shares held by Data Dreamland as each of
them is a settlor of the Barrie Bay Trust and by virtue of the interests of their minor children under the Barrie Bay Trust. The
long positions in the Company’s shares of each of Mr. GUO and Ms. YANG under the column “Through spouse or minor
children” and the column “Founder of a discretionary trust” in the table headed “Long positions in shares of the Company”
above refers to the same 831,171,248 shares. Each of Mr. GUO and Ms. YANG is taken to be interested in the entire issued
share capital of Data Dreamland as each of them is a settlor of the Barrie Bay Trust and by virtue of the interests of their
minor children under the Barrie Bay Trust. The long positions in shares of Data Dreamland of each of Mr. GUO and Ms.
YANG in the column “Through spouse or minor children” and the column “Founder of a discretionary trust” under the
table headed “Long positions in shares of an associated corporation” above refers to the same 1,000 shares.

2. Mr. GUO was taken to be interested in the 12,028,000 shares held by Wintech Consultants Limited as he was one out of
the three directors of Wintech Consultants Limited and the other two directors were accustomed to act in accordance with
Mr. GUO's direction.

3. Mr. JIANG Chao, an executive Director, was interested in the 12,028,000 shares held by Wintech Consultants Limited as he
was one of the discretionary objects under the China Wireless Employee Benefit Trust, a discretionary trust established for
the benefit of the employees of the Group and the China Wireless Share Award Plan.

4. The interests of these Directors are in the underlying Shares of the options granted to the relevant Directors by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme.

11 l J
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the following interests and short positions of 5% or more in the issued share capital
and share options of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY:

Percentage

Number of the

of shares Total Company's

in which number issued

Name Notes interested Nature of interest of shares share capital

Data Dreamland Holding Limited 1 831,171,248 Beneficial owner 831,171,248 38.71

("Data Dreamland”)

Barrie Bay Limited 2 831,171,248 Interest of controlled 831,171,248 38.71
(“Barrie Bay"”) corporation

HSBC International Trustee Limited 2 831,171,248 Trustee 831,171,248 38.71

("HSBC Trustee”)

Notes:

The entire issued share capital of Data Dreamland is held by Barrie Bay. Barrie Bay is acting as the trustee of the Barrie Bay
Trust. The Barrie Bay Unit Trust is a unit trust of which 9,999 units are held by HSBC Trustee, which is acting as the trustee
of the Barrie Bay Unit Trust and the remaining one unit is held by Ms. YANG Hua. The Barrie Bay Unit Trust is a discretionary
trust set up by Mr. GUO and Ms. YANG and the discretionary objects of which include the minor children of Mr. GUO and
Ms. YANG.

The 831,171,248 shares were held by Data Dreamland, the entire share capital of which is held by Barrie Bay, which is
acting as the trustee of the Barrie Bay Unit Trust and the entire issued share capital of which is held by HSBC Trustee.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, so far as the directors are aware, there are no other persons,
other than the directors and chief executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company which would be required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and are required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Further details of the Scheme are
disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options outstanding during the year:

35

Number of share options
At Grant Exercised Expired Forfeited At Date of Exercise Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December grant of share period of price of share
Name or category of participant 2011 theperiod  theperiod  theperiod the period 2011 options* share options options**
HKS per share
Employees
In aggregate - granted on 27 July 2006 684,000 - 196,000 488,000 - - 21-07-06  27-07-07 to 26-07-11 04615
In aggregate - granted on 18 September 2007 10,176,000 - 1,230,000 - 360,000 8,586,000 18-09-07  18-09-08 to 17-09-12 1415
In aggregate - granted on 18 September 2007 3,216,000 - - - 384,000 2,832,000 18-09-07  18-09-10 to 17-09-14 1.415
In aggregate - granted on 20 May 2008 10,156,000 - 1,852,000 - 748,000 7,556,000 20:05-08  20-05-09 to 19-05-13 0.674
In aggregate - granted on 20 May 2008 3,856,000 - 276,000 - - 3,580,000 20-05-08  20-05-10 to 19-05-14 0.674
In aggregate - granted on 20 May 2008 11,928,000 - - - 672,000 11,256,000 20-05-08  20-05-11 to 19-05-15 0.674
In aggregate - granted on 20 May 2008 3,488,000 - - - - 3,488,000 20-05-08  20-05-14 10 19-05-18 0.674
In aggregate - granted on 27 Feb 2009 4,392,000 - 700,000 - 204,000 3,488,000 2702-09  27-02-10 to 26-02-14 0397
In aggregate - granted on 27 Feb 2009 8,464,000 - 5,007,000 - 1,120,000 2,337,000 2702-09  27-02-10 to 26-02-12 0397
In aggregate - granted on 27 Feb 2009 852,000 - 648,000 12,000 192,000 - 27-02-09  27-02-10 to 26-02-11 0397
In aggregate - granted on 27 Feb 2009 800,000 - - - 800,000 - 27-02-09  27-02-13 10 26-02-17 0397
In aggregate - granted on 30 Jun 2010 16,904,000 - - - - 16,904,000 28-06-10  28-06-11 to 27-06-15 3.4
In aggregate - granted on 30 Jun 2010 19,704,000 - - - - 19,704,000 28-06-10  28-06-12 t0 27-06-16 324
In aggregate - granted on 30 Jun 2010 15,772,000 - - - - 15,772,000 28-06-10  28-06-13 to 27-06-17 34
In aggregate - granted on 30 Jun 2010 9,500,000 - - - - 9,500,000 28-06-10  28-06-14 t0 27-06-18 324
In aggregate - granted on 12 July 2011 - 50,344,000 - - - 50,344,000 12-07-11 120712 to 11-07-16 1.678
In aggregate - granted on 12 July 2011 - 780,000 - - - 780,000 120711 12-07-14 10 11-07-18 1,678
Directors
In aggregate - granted on 27 July 2006 - - - - - - 210706 27-07-06 to 26-07-10 04615
In aggregate - granted on 18 September 2007 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 18-09-07  18-09-08 to 17-09-12 1415
In aggregate - granted on 20 May 2008 3,000,000 - 252,000 - - 2,748,000 20-05-08  20-05-10 to 19-05-14 0.674
In aggregate - granted on 27 Feb 2009 720,000 - 9,000 - - 624,000 21-02-09  27-02-10 to 26-02-14 0.397
In aggregate - granted on 27 Feb 2009 4,000,000 - - - - 4,000,000 27-02-09  27-02-13 10 26-02-17 0397
In aggregate - granted on 30 Jun 2010 4,000,000 - - - - 4,000,000 28-06-10  28-06-14 to 27-06-18 324
In aggregate - granted on 12 July 2011 - 1,400,000 - - - 1,400,000 1220711 12:07-12 10 11-07-16 1,678
Subtotal 132,612,000 52,524,000 10,257,000 500,000 4,480,000 169,899,000
Business consultants 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 - 18-09-07  18-09-10 to 17-09-14 1415
Total 140,612,000 52,524,000 10,257,000 500,000 12,480,000 169,899,000
Notes to the reconciliation of share options outstanding during the year:
* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.
x* The exercise price of a share option is the amount that the employee is required to pay to obtain each share under the
option.
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The fair value of the Group’s share options granted during the year was calculated by an independent professionally
qualified valuer, LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, at HK$45,079,000 using the binomial option pricing model as
at the date of grant of the options:

Number of share Theoretical

options granted value of

Grantee during the year share options
HK$

Employees in aggregate 52,524,000 45,079,000

The binomial option pricing model is a generally accepted method of valuing options, using certain key determinants
to calculate the theoretical value of share options. The significant assumptions used in the calculation of the values
of the share options included the risk-free interest rate, expected life of options, expected volatility and expected
dividend. The measurement dates used in the valuation calculations were the dates on which the options were
granted. For details of the assumptions, please refer to note 34 to the financial statements.

The value of share options calculated using the binomial option pricing model is subject to certain fundamental
limitations, due to the subjective nature of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the expected
future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself.

The value of an option varies with different variables determined by certain subjective assumptions. Any change to
the variables used may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the Company comprising four independent non-executive Directors
has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and has discussed auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2011.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders of the Company and their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) had any interests in a business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year under review, the Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against the Company as far as the Board was aware of.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
date of this report, the percentage of shares of the Company in public hands is in compliance with the prescribed
level of the minimum public float as set out in Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies, where the revenue, cost of sales and certain portion of the
bank loans are denominated in USD. The Group entered into forward currency contracts to minimise its transactional
currency exposures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the staff costs amounted to HK$526.3 million(2010: HK$414.1 million).
The remuneration of the Group's employees was commensurate with their responsibilities and the market levels, with
discretionary bonuses and training given on a merit basis.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There were no significant investments held by the Group as at 31 December 2011.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL

There were no material acquisitions and disposal of the Company and its subsidiaries during the year under review.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
China Wireless Technologies Limited

Guo Deying
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

20 March 2012, Hong Kong
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To the shareholders of China Wireless Technologies Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Wireless Technologies Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 40 to 122, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report
is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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To the shareholders of China Wireless Technologies Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22nd Floor, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue,
Central

Hong Kong

20 March 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
REVENUE 5 7,340,495 4,592,699
Cost of sales (6,259,135) (3,475,274)
Gross profit 1,081,360 1,117,425
Other income and gains 5 319,758 216,974
Selling and distribution costs (466,255) (322,691)
Administrative expenses (558,702) (443,444)
Other expenses (5,345) (13,823)
Finance costs 7 (46,303) (9,245)
Share of losses of associates (216) (95)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 324,297 545,101
Income tax expense 10 (53,228) (64,836)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 271,069 480,265
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Gains on property revaluation 40,855 18,631
Income tax effect 32 (6,531) (3,670)
34,324 14,961
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 77,826 36,398
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR,

NET OF TAX 112,150 51,359
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 383,219 531,624
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 11 271,364 480,265

Non-controlling interests (295) -

271,069 480,265
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 383,514 531,624
Non-controlling interests (295) -
383,219 531,624
EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY 13
Basic 12.39 cents 22.98 cents
Diluted 12.15 cents 22.22 cents

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2011

2011 2010

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 527,097 417,237
Investment properties 15 334,952 304,456
Prepaid land lease payments 16 110,222 67,321
Intangible assets 17 112,491 94,294
Investments in associates 19 34,523 196
Available-for-sale investment 20 11,102 -
Other non-current assets 24 8,374 46,607
Deferred tax assets 32 12,903 21,439
Total non-current assets 1,151,664 951,550
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 21 1,668,545 835,178
Trade receivables 22 1,571,749 222,013
Bills receivable 23 685,276 697,238
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24 314,452 176,382
Due from directors 25 655 580
Pledged time deposits 26 1,080,007 728,123
Cash and cash equivalents 26 1,058,857 641,895
Total current assets 6,379,541 3,301,409
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 27 1,377,469 566,553
Bills payable 28 1,615,658 689,447
Other payables and accruals 29 981,719 725,755
Derivative financial instruments 30 8,377 10,696
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 31 1,190,094 606,541
Tax payable 24,986 53,157
Total current liabilities 5,198,303 2,652,149
NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,181,238 649,260
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,332,902 1,600,810
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,332,902 1,600,810
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 31 67,843 132,640
Deferred tax liabilities 32 60,838 42,625
Other non-current liabilities 14,531 5,053
Total non-current liabilities 143,212 180,318
Net assets 2,189,690 1,420,492
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Issued capital 33 21,474 21,024
Shares held for the Share Award Plan 35 (321) (321)
Reserves 2,121,007 1,283,187
Proposed final dividend 12 43,005 112,717
2,185,165 1,416,607
Non-controlling interests 4,525 3,885
Total equity 2,189,690 1,420,492
GUO Deying JIANG Chao
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2011

Attributable to owners of the Company

Shares
Share  held for Share Share  Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  the Share Contributed Revaluation  Statutory option award fluctuation  Retained final controlling
capital  account Award Plan surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividend Total  interests Total
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
At 1 January 2010 20,591 152,514 (3,799) 390 56,206 41,822 28,651 - 96,559 423519 62,673 879,126 - 879,126
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 480,265 - 480,265 - 480,265
Other comprehensive
income for the year:
Gains on property
revaluation, net of tax - - - - 14,961 - - - - - - 14,961 - 14,961
Exchange differences
on translation of
foreign operations - - - - - - - 36,398 - - 36,398 - 36,398
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 14,961 - - - 36,398 480,265 - 531,624 - 531,624
Avising from the
incorporation of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - 3,885 3,885
Final 2009 dividend
declared - - - - - - - - - - (62,646) (62,646 - (62,646)
Difference between the
proposed final 2009
dividend and the actual
dividend paid - - - - - - - - - 21 27 - - -
Issue of shares 33 433 24,735 - - - - - - - - - 25,168 - 25,168
Transfer from share option
reserve 3 - 10,257 - - - - (10,257) - - - - - - -
Equity-settled share option
arrangements 34 - - - - - - 19,537 - - - - 19,537 - 19,537
Shares awarded under
the Share Award Plan 35 - - 3478 - - - - 41,304 - - - 44,782 - 44,782
Interim 2010 dividend 12 - - - - - - - - - (20,984) - (20,984) = (20,984)
Proposed final 2010
dividend 12 - () - - - - - - - - 12,17 - - -
At 31 December 2010 21,024 74,789* (321) 390* ,167* 41,822* 37,931* 41,304* 132,957 882,827* 12,117 1,416,607 3885 142049
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2011

Attributable to owners of the Company

Shares
Share held for Share Share Capital ~ Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued premium  the Share  Contributed Revaluation  Statutory option award redemption  fluctuation Retained final controlling
capital account  Award Plan surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividend Total  interests Total

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

At 1 January 2011 21,024 74,789 (321) 390 7,167 4822 31,931 41,304 - 132,957 882,827 N7 1,416,607 3885 1,420,492
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - - 271,364 - 27,364 (295) 271,069
Other comprehensive income

for the year:

Gains on property revaluation,

net of tax - - - - 34,324 - - - - - - - 34324 - 34,324
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - - 71,826 - - 71,826 - 71,826

Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - 34,324 - - - - 71,826 271,364 - 383514 (295) 383,219
Final 2010 dividend declared - - - - - - - - - - - (112,959) (112,959) - (112,959)
Difference between the proposed

final 2010 dividend and

the actual dividend paid - - - - - - - - - - (242) 242 = = =
Issue of shares 3 1,500 667,611 - - - - - - - - - - 669,111 - 669,111
Share option exercised 3 102 5,894 - - - - - - - - - - 5,996 - 5,996
Transfer from share option reserve 33 - 2,519 - - - - (2579 - - - - - - - -
Repurchase of shares 3 (1,152 (189,112) - - - - - - 1,152 - (1,152) - (190,264) - (190,264)
Equity-settled share option

arrangements 34 - - - - - - 34,611 - - - - = 34,611 = 3461
Transfer of share option reserve

upon the forfeiture or expiry of

share options - - - - - - (4.479) - - - 4479 - - - -
Capital contribution by non-controlling

equity holder - - - - - - - - - - - - - 935 935
Appropriation to statutory reserve 36(@) - - - - - 5,926 - - - - (5,926) = = = =
Interim 2011 dividend 12 - - - - - - - - - - (21451) - (21,451) - (21451)
Proposed final 2011 dividend 12 - (43,005) - - - - - - - - - 43,005 - - -
At 31 December 2011 247 518756 (321) V0 A05491F 4T7ABt SR 41304F LIS 200783 119899F 43005 2185165 455 2189690
B These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,121,007,000 (2010: HK$1,283,187,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 324,297 545,101
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income (31,178) (10,609)
Finance costs 46,303 9,245
Share of losses of associates 216 95
Depreciation 6 40,380 24,397
Changes in fair value of investment properties 6 (15,024) (9,072)
Amortisation of patents and licences 6 8,020 9,690
Amortisation of product development costs 6 24,876 33,240
Recognition of prepaid land lease payments 6 1,934 1,485
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6 661 774
Impairment of trade receivables 6 922 909
Provision for inventories 6 24,227 15,591
Equity-settled share award plan expense - 44,782
Equity-settled share option expense 34,611 19,537
Fair value gains of derivative instruments
— transactions not qualifying as hedges 6 (2,319) 10,696
457,926 695,861
Increase in inventories (792,983) (349,184)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (1,308,347) 66,451
(Increase)/decrease in bills receivable 23,755 (652,757)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (126,072) (57,781)
Increase in amounts due from directors (46) (41)
(Increase)/decrease in other non-current assets (4,203) 269
Increase in trade payables 764,753 206,708
Increase in bills payable 871,423 561,527
Increase in other payables and accruals 196,682 233,576
Increase in other non-current liabilities 9,013 488
Cash generated from operations 91,901 705,117
Tax paid (62,443) (54,093)
Net cash flows from operating activities 29,458 651,024
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2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Net cash flows from operating activities 29,458 651,024
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received 31,178 10,609
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (77,854) (64,979)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment 3,159 1,793
Additions to product development costs 17 (43,799) (16,408)
Additions to patents and licences 17 (3,.412) (4,998)
Addition to prepaid land lease payments (1,001) (22,519)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate - 8,603
Investments in associates (33,720) (294)
Increase in pledged time deposits (315,999) (524,419)
Purchase of an available-for-sale investment (10,839) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities (452,287) (612,612)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 33(e) 669,111 -
Proceeds from share option exercised 33(a)-(d) 5,996 25,168
New bank loans 2,302,934 549,122
Repayment of bank loans (1,811,518) (105,728)
Repurchase of shares 33(f) (190,264) -
Capital contribution by non-controlling equity holder 935 -
Decrease in an amount due to an associate - (7,492)
Interest paid (38,238) (20,301)
Dividends paid (134,410) (83,630)
Net cash flows from financing activities 804,546 357,139
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 381,717 395,551
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 641,895 251,401
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 35,245 (5,057)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,058,857 641,895
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 26 1,058,857 641,895
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2011

2011 2010

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 153 246
Investments in subsidiaries 18 114,973 82,106
Total non-current assets 115,126 82,352
CURRENT ASSETS
Due from subsidiaries 18 229,709 202,204
Trade receivables 22 3,925 -
Bills receivable 23 403,145 486,100
Deposits and other receivables 24 12,280 1,747
Pledged time deposits 26 283,705 26,128
Cash and cash equivalents 26 127,922 68,382
Total current assets 1,060,686 784,561
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 27 - 667
Other payables and accruals 29 13,650 6,576
Derivative financial instruments 30 7.490 10,696
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 31 384,216 475,492
Total current liabilities 405,356 493,431
NET CURRENT ASSETS 655,330 291,130
Net assets 770,456 373,482
EQUITY
Issued capital 33 21,474 21,024
Shares held for the Share Award Plan 35 (321) (321)
Reserves 36(b) 706,298 240,062
Proposed final dividend 12 43,005 112,717
Total equity 770,456 373,482
GUO Deying JIANG Chao
Director Director
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2011

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Wireless Technologies Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands.

The Group is a wireless solution and equipment provider in Mainland China. During the year, the Group
continued to focus on the production and sale of smartphones.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Data Dreamland Holding Limited (“Data Dreamland”), which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI").

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
certain buildings and derivative financial instruments, which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-group
balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are
eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results
in a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2011

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 32 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation — Classification

of Rights Issues
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in May 2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS
3, HKAS 1 and HKAS 27 included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2010, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(a) HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions of related parties. The new definitions
emphasise a symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify the circumstances in which
persons and key management personnel affect related party relationships of an entity. The revised
standard also introduces an exemption from the general related party disclosure requirements for
transactions with a government and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the same government as the reporting entity. The accounting policy for related parties
has been revised to reflect the changes in the definitions of related parties under the revised standard.
The adoption of the revised standard did not have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group. Details of the related party transactions, including the related comparative information,
are included in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2011

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There

are separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of some of the amendments

results in changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments has had a significant financial

impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. Details of the key amendments most

applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKAS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment clarifies that amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS
32 and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for contingent consideration do not apply to
contingent consideration that arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates precede
the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of measurement choices for non-controlling
interests. Only the components of non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or at the present ownership instruments’
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to clarify the accounting treatment for non-
replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can be presented either in the statement of changes
in equity or in the notes to the financial statements. The Group elects to present the analysis of
each component of other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and
HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or
earlier if HKAS 27 is applied earlier.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2011

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters'

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Transfers of Financial Assets’

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities*

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements*

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements*

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements*

HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

— Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income’

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets?

HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits?

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements*

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures?

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred tax for investment property measured at fair
value. The amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment property
measured at fair value should be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through
sale. Furthermore, the amendments incorporate the requirement previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21 /ncome Taxes —
Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured using the
revaluation model in HKAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis. The Group expects to adopt HKAS
12 Amendments from 1 January 2012.

For other new and revised HKFRSs which are issued but not yet effective, the Group is in the process of
making an assessment of the impact upon initial application. The Group is not yet in a position to state
whether they would have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2011

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not
less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s
share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated profit or loss
and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(iv)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(v) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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31 December 2011

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost or valuation less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with
as movements in the revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an
individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation
surplus is credited to the profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a
revalued asset, the relevant portion of the revaluation reserve realised in respect of the previous valuations is
transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%

Leasehold improvements 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents buildings and manufacturing plant under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>